#### **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-18-2018

# Atkinson v. 2M Company, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45918

## I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a workers' compensation decision of the Industrial Commission involving the going and coming rule. Respondent was injured in an automobile accident on a Saturday morning when he was driving from his home to the Appellant Employer's office in a company pickup. The Industrial Commission in a 2-1 decision concluded that Respondent's accident and injuries arose out and in the course of his employment. Appellant Employer and Surety have appealed, contending that the Commission erred by failing to apply the correct legal standards to the in the course of employment and the arising out of employment issue. Appellants seek reversal and remand to the Commission for findings of fact and conclusions of law consistent with this Court's decision and opinion on appeal.

#### B. Course of the Proceedings

Respondent's accident occurred on March 11, 2017. R., p. 19. Respondent filed a Worker's Compensation Complaint with the Industrial Commission on May 24, 2017. R., pgs. 1-3. Appellants filed their Answer on June 2, 2017. R., pgs. 4-5. The Commission on July 26, 2017 issued a Notice of Hearing for September 13, 2017. R., pgs. 6-7. One of the issues set for hearing was "Compensability of Claimant's March 11, 2017 accident, including whether Claimant suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of employment by Employer." R., p.6. Referee Alan Taylor conducted the hearing on September 13, 2017 as scheduled. R., p. 15. Respondent on October 11, 2017 filed Claimant's Brief and Closing Argument. R., Additional Documents 1, p.

ii. Appellants filed their Defendants' Post-Hearing Memorandum on October 30, 2017. R., Additional Documents 2, p. ii. Respondent then filed Claimant's Reply Brief on November 13, 2017. R., Additional Documents 3, p. ii. The Commission on March 6, 2018 issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order and Dissenting Opinion. R., pgs. 15-34. Referee Taylor submitted a proposed decision, but the Commission indicated in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order and Dissenting Opinion that "[t]he undersigned majority, while agreeing with the outcome in this case, disagrees with the treatment given by the Referee to certain exceptions to the going and coming rule, and therefor issue this decision in lieu of the proposed decision." R., p. 19. Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on April 10, 2017. R., pgs. 35-39.

#### C. Concise Statement of Facts

Appellant Employer is a wholesaler of well drilling and irrigation supplies Tr., p. 25, LL. 1-4. Its local office is in Meridian. Tr., p.2 26, LL. 11-15. When Respondence started employment with the Respondent was hired as a delivery driver when he began employment with Appellant Employer in 2011. Tr., p. 24, LL. 15-17. He drove for the company for about three years, and then was promoted to inside sales. Tr., p. 25, LL. 10-14. He continued in that position until 2015, when he was promoted to territorial (outside) sales. Tr., p. 26, LL. 2-6.

As a territorial sales person, Respondent was a salaried employee. Tr., p. 27, LL. 9-15. His monthly salary at the time of the March 11, 2017 accident was \$4,000.00. Tr., p. 27, LL. 12-15. Appellant Employer had four other salaried employees besides Respondent. Tr., p. 35, LL. 11-13. As part of their job duties, each of the five salaried employees was required take a turn one

Saturday every five weeks in staffing Appellant Employer's Meridian office. Tr., p. 34, L. 12 – p. 35, L. 16. The office was open from 8:00 a.m. to noon on Saturdays. Tr., p. 35, LL. 7-8.

March 11, 2017 was a Saturday. Tr., p. 43, LL. 2-8. On that Saturday, Respondent had switched Saturday shifts with another employee to allow that employee to spend time with his children, who were coming into town for spring break from Arizona where they lived with their mother. Tr., p. 43, LL. 9-22. In return, the other employee would cover Respondent's next regular Saturday shift. Tr., p. 43, LL. 23-24.

The evening of Friday, March 10, 2017, Respondent and his wife had driven in their personal vehicle to the Whitewater Saloon for a date night. Tr., p. 44, L. 19 – p. 45, L. 13; Neither felt capable of safely driving home at the end of the evening, so they took a cab home. Tr., p. 45, LL. 2-6. The next morning, Respondent and his wife, Crystal, left home together before 8:00 a.m. in Appellant Employer's pickup, which Respondent had use of. Tr., p. 45, LL. 12-21; Tr., p. 53, LL. 2-3; Tr., p. 60, L. 24 – p. 61, L. 7. The couple's three children had spent the evening at their grandmother's house, and Crystal Atkinson was supposed to pick the children up at 8:00 a.m. Tr., p. 2, LL. 2-14; Tr., p. 45, LL. 7-19; Tr., p. 60, L. 25 – p. 61, L.8. She needed a car to do so, but since the couple had left their personal vehicle at the Whitewater Saloon, she needed to be driven there to retrieve the family car. Tr., p. 44, L. 19 – p. 45, L. 19; Tr., p. 60, L. 24 – p. 61, L. 8. When Respondent and his wife left their home together in the Appellant Employer's pickup that Saturday morning, their plan was that Respondent would drop her off at the Whitewater Saloon to pick up their car before proceeding alone in the Appellant Employer's pickup to the Appellant Employer's

office for his four-hour Saturday shift. Tr., p. 45, LL. 12 – 24; Tr., p. 52, LL. 2-3; Tr., p. 60, L. 24 – p. 71, L. 1. The Whitewater Saloon is located on Meridian Road at the corner of Fairview Avenue and Meridian Road. Tr., p. 48, LL. 5-6. Appellant Employer's Meridian office is located at 130 East Victory Road, which is near the intersection of Meridian Road and East Victory. Tr., p. 46, L. 24 – p. 47, L. 3; Exhibits A and G.

When the two left home that Saturday morning, Respondent drove the pickup and his wife was in the passenger seat. Tr., p. 52, L. 16 – p. 53, L. 6; Tr., p. 61, LL. 12-13. Respondent pulled onto Archery from their driveway and then onto Meadowgrass, where they were then heading east. Tr., p. 52- LL. 21-22; Tr., p. 61, LL. 17-18. The most direct north-south road out of their subdivision is Locust Grove. Tr., p. 48, LL. 21-22. Tr., p. 51, LL. 16-22. They did not, however, make it out of their subdivision onto Locust Grove. Tr., p. 48, LL. 24-25. When he turned onto Meadowgrass at about 7:30 a.m., the sun was shining in Respondent's eyes and he noticed that he couldn't see very well because the windshield was obscured due to the cold weather. Tr., p. 52, L. 21 – p. 53, L. 3; Tr., p. 61, LL. 17-19. He pulled to the side of the street, got out of the pickup, shut the door, and started to scrape the windshield with a credit card. Tr., p. 53, LL. 6-8; Tr., 61, LL. 17-22. As he was scraping the windshield, he was struck by another vehicle and was injured. Tr., p. 55, LL. 6-7. Tr., p. 61, LL. 22-23; Tr., p. 62, LL. 6-8.

Respondent's injuries included injuries to his right leg and right shoulder. Tr., p. 55, LL. 8-16. He was taken by ambulance to St. Alphonsus' Hospital the morning of the accident, where he was an in-patient for five weeks. Tr., p. 17, LL. 17-19; Tr., p. 52, LL. 9-22. By the date of

hearing, he had four or five surgeries, and he had been in rehabilitation since his discharge from the hospital. Tr., p. 55, LL. 20— p. 56, L. 3.

Appellant Employer had continued to pay Respondent his salary since the accident through the date of hearing. Tr., p. 56, LL. 15-25. Respondent returned to work in August 2017 and has been working in inside sales as of the hearing date. Tr., p. 57, LL. 3-9. As of the date of hearing, Respondent was still unable to drive a motor vehicle. Tr., p. 57, LL. 12-16.

Besides a once-in-five week required turn staffing the office on a Saturday, Respondent had other duties during the week in his pre-injury position as a territorial sales person.

Respondent's sales territory prior to the May 11, 2017 accident included southeastern Oregon, Vale and Burns, northeaster Nevada, southeastern Idaho to Burley, and north to McCall. Tr., p. 30, LL. 1-16. Every Monday, Respondent would be in the office preparing a weekly call report, which he would usually try to have completed by noon. Tr., p. 30, LL. 22-24. He would then spend the rest of Monday lining up sales calls with regular and prospective customers. Tr., p. 30, L. 24 – p. 31, L. 6. The rest of his work week would focus on completing the sales calls. Tr., p. 31, LL. 13-16. A sale would involve him arranging for a delivery driver to deliver parts or equipment that had been purchased. Tr., p. 29, LL. 6-11. In some situations, a sale might involve Respondent needing to assist a customer with the installation of parts or equipment. Tr., p. 29, LL. 12-18. Also, Respondent and other sales persons might need to respond to established customers' special needs outside regular working hours. Tr., p. 35, L. 22 – p. 36, L. 22.

Additionally, Respondent would also provide technical assistance to customers. Tr., p. 28, LL. 10-11.

As a territorial sales person, Respondent was given the use of a company pickup to make sales calls, service customers, and commute to and from work. Tr., p. 36, L. 24 – p. 37, L. 25. Appellant Employer paid for the fuel and maintenance expenses of the pickup, with an exception. Tr., p. 40, LL. 4-17. Respondent had permission to use the vehicle for personal use, but he would have to personally pay for fuel if he went on a personal trip over the equivalent of a hundred air miles from the Meridian office. Tr., p. 37, L. 24 – p. 38, L. 5; Tr., p. 40, LL. 5-9.

#### II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Commission, as a matter of law, incorrectly apply the law of inferences in determining that the Appellant Employer intended to compensate Respondent for travel time?
- 2. Did the Commission, as a matter of law, apply an incorrect legal standard in determining that the Appellant Employer derived a substantial benefit from providing Responding with the use of a company pickup to commute to and from work?
- 3. Did the Commission, as a matter of law, incorrectly apply the Court's holdings in Barker v. Fischbach & Moore, Inc. and Matter of Barker to the determination of whether Respondent was in the course of employment at the time of his accident?
- 4. Did the Commission err as a matter of law by failing to make a finding of fact as to whether Claimant's accident arose out of employment?

5. As a matter of law, does an auto accident that occurs while an employee is commuting from his home to work at his employer's office arise out of employment when the employee is not performing any services for the employer at the time of the accident?

#### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing an Industrial Commission decision, the Court exercises free review over questions of law. Izaquirre v. R & L Carriers Shared Services, LLC, 155 Idaho 229, 231, 308 P.3d 929, 931 (2013). Whether the Commission applied the correct legal standard to its determination of factual issues is a question of law. *Combes v. State, Industrial Special Indemnity Fund,* 130 Idaho 430, 432, 942 P.2d 554, 556 (1997).

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Introduction

To be compensable under the workers' compensation law, an injury must be caused by an accident "arising out of and in the course of" employment. Idaho Code § 72-102(18)(a); Idaho Code. See *Kelly v. Blue Linen Supply, Inc.*, 159 Idaho 324, 360 P.3d 333 (2015); *Dinius v. Loving Care and More, Inc.*, 133 Idaho 572, 990 P.2d 738 (1999); *Kiger v. Idaho Corp.*, 85 Idaho 424, 380 P.2d 208 (1963). Both the in-the-course-of-employment requirement and the out-of-employment requirement must be satisfied for there to be compensability. *Kessler on Behalf of Kessler v. Payette County.*, 129 Idaho 855, 859, 934 P.2d 28, 32 (1997). As noted in Dinius, supra, "[t]he words 'out of' have been held to refer to the origin and cause of the accident and the

words 'in the course of' refer to the time, place, and circumstance under which the accident occurred." 133 Idaho at 574, 990 P.2d at 740. "An injury is deemed in the course of employment when it takes place while the worker is doing the duty which he is employed to perform." *Id.* at 575, 990 P.2d at 741. "The injury is considered to arise out of the employment when a causal connection is found to exit between the circumstances under which the work must be performed and the injury of which the claimant complains." *Id.* The Court in *Kiger*, supra, elaborated on the "out of employment" requirement, quoting with approval the following explanation from *Eriksen* v. *Nez Perce County*, 72 Idaho 1, 6, 235 P.2d 736, 738-9 (1951):

It [an injury] arises "out of employment, when there apparent to the rational mind upon consideration of all the circumstances, a causal connection between the conditions under which the work is required to be performed and the resulting injury. Under this test, if the injury can be seen to have followed as a natural incident of the work and to have been contemplated by a reasonable person familiar with whole situation as a result of the exposure occasioned by the nature of the employment, then it arises "out of" the employment. But it excludes an injury which cannot fairly be traced to the employment as a contributing proximate cause and which comes from a hazard to which the workmen would have been equally exposed apart from the employment.

85 Idaho at 430, 380 P.2d at 210-11.

Unless an exception applies, an employee going to and from work is not within the course of employment, and an injury sustained while engaged in such travel does not arise out of the employment. Clark v. Daniel Morine Construction Co., 98 Idaho 114, 559 P.2d 293 (1977). The reason the employee is generally not awarded compensation for injuries that occur while traveling to and from work is that such injuries are not sufficiently linked causally to employment. Pitkin v. Western Construction, 112 Idaho 506, 507, 733 P.2d 727,728 (1987). The Court previously

explained in *Barker v. Fischbach & Moore, Inc.*, 105 Idaho 108, 109, 666 P.2d 635, 636 (1983) "that the employment relationship is considered to be suspended from the time the employee leaves his work to go home until he resumes his work the next day." Exceptions to the going and coming rule include: "(1) the special errand; (2) the traveling employee; (3) peculiar risk, and: (4) dual purpose doctrines." *Teurlings v. Larson*, 156 Idaho 65, 73-74, 320 P.3d 1224, 1232-33 (2014). The Commission, however, did not find that Respondent's accident fell within any of those exceptions. Rather, the Commission expanded the Court's payment-for-travel-time doctrine beyond the parameters of any Court holding. In so doing, Appellant's contend the Commission committed reversible error.

B. The Commission Erred as a Matter of Law by Applying Incorrect Legal Standards in Determining that Respondent's Accident Occurred in the Course of Employment and Arose Out of Employment

In the instant case, the Commission determined that *Matter of Barker*,110 Idaho 871, 719 P.2d 1131 (1986) "is controlling and dispositive[.]" Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order and Dissenting Opinion, Finding 28, R., p. 26. *Matter of Barker*, supra, was the second appeal involving the same parties. The earlier appeal was *Barker v. Fischbach & Moore, Inc.*, 105 Idaho 108, 666 P.2d 635 (1983) (Barker I). *Barker I* involved the issue of whether Barker was in the course of his employment when he was killed in a car accident after he left work to travel to a dental appointment in Twin Falls, where he resided. 105 Idaho at 109, 666 P.2d at 635. Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, Barker received \$90 per week as a travel allowance for travel between Twin Falls and the work site, which was located 26 miles east of Arco. *Id.* The work site was 137 miles from Twin Falls. *Id.* The Commission concluded that Barker had not been engaged

in employment at the time of the accident. *Id.* The Court in Barker I determined that the Commission erred as a matter of law in the way it applied *Spanbauer v. Peter Kiewit Sons' Company*, 93 Idaho 509, 465 P. 2d 633 (1970) to the facts. 105 Idaho at 111, 666 P.2d at 635. Thus, it reversed and remanded to the Commission "to determine if other evidence, besides the payment of travel expenses, exists to support a finding that the employee was within the course of employment at the time of the accident." *Id.* Following remand, the Commission again found for the employer and surety and the case was once more appealed, resulting in *Matter of Barker*, supra. The Court affirmed the Commission. It concluded that the Commission correctly applied the standard announced in Barker I, and that no evidence, other than the travel allowance payment, had been submitted "to indicate that the employer intended to compensate the employee for travel time or travel expense." 110 Idaho at 872, 719 P.2d at 1132.

There is no dispute in the instant case that the Appellant Employer provided to Respondent the company pickup that Respondent was driving from his home to work on the Saturday morning of the accident. As a territorial sales person, Respondent was given the use of a company pickup to make sales calls, service customers, and commute to and from work. Appellant Employer generally paid for the fuel and maintenance expenses of the pickup. The Commission recognized, however, that provision of the pickup and the "gas and maintenance necessary to operate the same" were insufficient by themselves for purposes of the in-the-course-of-employment requirement, and that "Claimant must adduce additional evidence 'indicating that Employer intended to compensate employee for travel time,' in order to justify the expansion of the course of employment to include a going-to/coming-from trip." Findings of Fact, supra, Finding 24, R., p. 25. The Commission

went on to conclude that there were "two other circumstances" which would "support the inference that Employer intended to compensate Claimant for travel time[.]" Id. Those were "(1) Claimant's status as a 24/7 "on-call" employee" and; (2) fact that employer enjoyed a significant benefit from this arrangement." *Id.* It elaborated on those "two other circumstances" in its next two findings.

- 25. First, Claimant is a 24/7 "on-call" employee. Claimant may be called upon to respond to an emergency any time of day, and therefore, it is necessary to his work to have immediate access to a company vehicle at all times. Because Claimant must have a company vehicle at home to respond to the needs of a customer, it follows that he <u>must</u> use Employer's vehicle going-to and coming-from the workplace. Because of the demands of his employment, Claimant is effectively denied the option of choosing to use his own vehicle in coming/going journey.
- 26. Second, even though the provision of a company vehicle to Claimant may be regarding as an inducement to Claimant, it is also clear that the provision of a company vehicle to Claimant serves the Employer's interests by ensuring that Claimant will always have the means available to immediately respond to emergency calls.

Findings of Fact, supra, Findings 25-26, R., pgs. 25-26. The Commission then found that "[a]lthough we consider this to be a close case, pursuant to <u>Barker</u>, we find these additional factors, along with the Employer's payment of the expenses to travel, to be sufficient to bring Claimant's accident within the course of his employment." Findings of Fact, supra, Finding 27, R., p. 26.

The Court in Barker I, supra, and Matter of Barker, supra, clearly indicated that there must be evidence that an employer intended to compensate an employee for travel time for travel to and from work to be in the course of employment. Respondent was a salaried employee. There is no evidence that Appellant Employer paid Respondent for the time he incurred in traveling to and from work. Moreover, none of the facts the Commission recites in Finding 25 are related to the circumstances of Claimant's accident. That Claimant might have to respond to customer calls

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