# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-17-2018

Atkinson v. 2M Company, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45918

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

### III. ARGUMENT.

Employer properly notes that when reviewing decisions of the Industrial Commission this Court exercises free review over questions of law and also reviews whether the Commission correctly applied the law to the facts of the case.

There are other standards of review applicable to this case. Factual findings of the Industrial Commission will be upheld by the Court if they are supported by "substantial and competent evidence." *Sundquist v. Precision Steel & Gypsum*, 141 Idaho 450, 453, 111 P.3d 135, 138 (2005), citing *Uhl v. Ballard Medical Products, Inc.*, 138 Idaho 653, 657, 67 P.3d 1265, 1269 (2003). "Substantial and competent evidence is relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." *Id.* Furthermore, the Commission's conclusions regarding the weight and credibility of the evidence will not be disturbed unless clearly erroneous. *Id.* And, finally, this Court, "will not re-weigh the evidence or consider whether (the Court) would have drawn a different conclusion from the evidence presented." *Id.* 

Two rules of construction apply to workers' compensation cases. First, the worker's compensation law should be construed liberally in favor of injured workers to provide coverage. I.C.§ 72-201; *Haldiman v. American Fine Foods*, 117 Idaho 955, 956, 793 P.2d 187, 188 (1990). Second, and specific to the resolution of this case, is the rule that if there is some doubt about whether the accident in question arose out of and in the course of employment, the case should

be resolved in favor of the injured worker. *Cheung v. Wasatch Electric*, 136 Idaho 895, 897, 42 P.3d 688, 690 (2002).

The major disputed issue in this case is whether Mr. Atkinson's accident took place in the course of his employment. Whether an injury arises out of and in the course of employment is a question of fact to be decided by the Commission. *Dinius v. Loving Care and More, Inc.*, 133 Idaho 572, 574, 990 P.2d 738, 740 (1999). Employer, however, does not assert that any of the Industrial Commission's Findings of Fact are unsupported by substantial and competent evidence. Rather, each of the five issues raised on this appeal by Employer are characterized in terms of legal error committed by the Industrial Commission.

Mr. Atkinson believes that Employer's phrasing of the issues is insufficient and incomplete. Accordingly, in the first two Additional Issues presented here, he asserts that the Industrial Commission's findings and conclusion that he was injured in an accident arising out of and in the course of his employment is a fact-driven determination supported by substantial and competent evidence. Such facts were properly applied by the Industrial Commission to the law governing the applicable legal standard.

Alternatively, in the event the Court determines that there is not substantial and competent evidence supporting the Industrial Commission's finding that Mr. Atkinson was injured in the course of his employment, Mr. Atkinson argues that the Industrial Commission erred by failing to apply the principles of two previous Supreme Court cases to the present case. That is the subject of the third Additional Issue presented by Mr. Atkinson and compels the same ultimate conclusion as that reached by the Commission, that Mr. Atkinson's accident arose out of and in the course of his employment by 2M Company.

### A. General "course of employment" principles.

Employer appropriately notes that to be compensable an injury must "arise out of" and "in the course of" employment. I.C.§ 72-102(18)(a). Each phrase has a different meaning. "The words arising 'out of' refer to the origin and cause of the injury and the words 'in the course of' refer to the time, place, and the circumstances under which the accident occurred." *Spivey v. Novartis Seed Inc.*, 137 Idaho 29, 33, 43 P.3d 788, 792 (2002).

The principle focus of the dispute in this case is whether Mr. Atkinson suffered an accident and injury in the course of his employment, not whether it arose out of the employment (although this requirement will also be discussed later in this Brief). As a general rule, a worker travelling between their home and work is not considered within the course of their employment. This is called the "going and coming" rule. *Clark v. Daniel Morine Construction Company*, 98 Idaho 114, 115, 559 P.2d 293, 294 (1977). Trips to and from work are not generally considered in the course of employment because the worker has not yet arrived at the workplace and cannot be said to have commenced performing their duties.

This Court has recognized several exceptions to the going and coming rule, including going to or coming from work in "some transportation facility furnished by the employer." *Eriksen v. Nez Perce County*, 72 Idaho 1, 4, 235 P.2d 736 (1951); *Hansen v. Estate of Harvey*, 119 Idaho 357, 806 P.2d 450 (Ct. App. 1990, aff. 119 Idaho 333, 806 P.2d 426 (1991). Another exception has been recognized when an employer pays an employee for travel expenses and there is additional evidence which supports the conclusion that the employer intends to pay for the employee's time travelling. *Case of Barker*, 105 Idaho 108, 666 P.2d 636 (1983) (*Barker I*); and *Matter of Barker*, 110 Idaho 871, 719 P.2d 1131 (1986) (*Barker II*). In other words, if travel

is part of the responsibilities of the job, trips to and from work become in the course of employment. These exceptions are at the heart of this dispute and are discussed below.

B. <u>Substantial and competent evidence supports the Industrial Commission's finding</u> that 2M Company intended to compensate Mr. Atkinson for his travel time.

The Commission provides an informative discussion of the historical recognition by commentators and this Court that when an employer pays an employee for travel time spent in a going or coming trip, injuries incurred during such a trip are covered, notwithstanding the going and coming rule. *Barker I* is the basis for that discussion and is also cited by Employer in its Brief. R., p. 21, para. 16 - p. 22, para. 19; *Appellant's Opening Brief*, pp. 9, 10. The facts of *Barker* will not be repeated here. Ultimately, *Barker I* holds that an employee travelling to and from work will be considered in the course of their employment when the employer regards the travel as part of the job. Payment of travel expenses is some evidence which supports that conclusion, but there must be more. *Barker I, supra*, 105 Idaho at 110, 666 P.2d at 637.

The Court noted that such other evidence could include the size of the travel allowance, or whether the job requires "extended cross-country travel to reach the employment site." *Id.* The Court did not limit such "other evidence" to these two factors, nor did it suggest that both factors must be present. The logical conclusion is that the Commission may consider any "other evidence" which is relevant to assist it in answering the question of whether, "the employer intended to compensate the employee for travel time, (to) justify expanding the course of employment to include going to and from work." 105 Idaho at 110, 111, 666 P.2d at 637, 638, citing 1 Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation § 16.30 (1982).

Given the Court's statement in *Barker I* that such other evidence could include the size of the travel allowance it is significant that Mr. Atkinson received a company car, a credit card for purchase of fuel, that his employer paid for all maintenance and repairs to the company vehicle, and that the 2M Company policy manual specifically states that its employees will be reimbursed for all business travel expenses. In other words, 100% of Mr. Atkinson's travel expenses were paid by 2M Company in practice and pursuant to its own policy. The size of the travel allowance could not have been larger. Although this additional evidence concerning the size of the travel allowance would seem to have satisfied the requirements of *Barker I* and ended the inquiry, the Industrial Commission looked to other evidence to reach its conclusion.

The Commission pointed to two facts as significant: (1) Mr. Atkinson's "status as a 24/7 'on-call' employee and; (2) (the) fact that employer enjoyed a significant benefit from this arrangement." R., p. 25, para. 25. There is substantial and competent evidence in the record to support these findings.

2M Company takes pride in providing its customers with Legendary Service. Mr. Atkinson was a key part in providing that service and was required to be on call 24/7. As Mr. Atkinson testified, he was provided a company vehicle, "Because I am now working all the time." Tr., p. 26, Ls. 2 - 6. Therefore, after regular work hours it is necessary that he keep the truck at his home so he is prepared to provide Legendary Service by responding to a customer's emergency needs. And during regular work hours, including when he is at the office, he also requires the company truck to be prepared to quickly respond to a customer's needs which might arise. It necessarily follows that he is required to travel between home and the office in the company truck to facilitate the ability to provide Legendary Service to 2M Company's customers. Thus, the evidence and all reasonable inferences arising from that evidence support the Commission's findings that Mr. Atkinson "must use Employer's vehicle going-to and coming-from" work and that he "is effectively denied the option of choosing to use his own

vehicle in coming/going journeys" which would include trips between the office and his home. R., p. 25, para. 25; Emphasis in original.

The second significant finding which the Commission pointed to, that 2M Company benefitted from providing Mr. Atkinson with a company truck (R., p. 26, para. 26), is not only reasonable, but undeniable. Mr. Atkinson was provided a company vehicle to facilitate his ability to provide Legendary Service to the customers of 2M Company. So long as he can provide such round-the-clock service, 2M Company is clearly benefitted by retaining satisfied customers.

It is also noteworthy that Mr. Atkinson receives a monthly salary to fulfill his work responsibilities. Accordingly, it is reasonable to infer that his monthly salary is intended by 2M Company to compensate Mr. Atkinson for fulfilling his obligation to drive the truck to the office from his home every fifth Saturday morning so it is available in the event of a customer emergency.

There is, therefore, substantial and competent evidence that 2M Company compensated Mr. Atkinson for his travel in the company truck to the office on the morning of March 11, 2017, when he was injured. The Industrial Commission correctly applied the legal principles of *Barker I* to the evidence presented and properly found that Mr. Atkinson was injured in the course of his employment with 2M Company.

C. <u>Employer fails to raise any legal errors by the Industrial Commission</u>.

Employer has characterized the issues to be resolved on this appeal in terms of legal questions, however, analysis with specific assignments of error is absent. Employer simply invites the Court to reweigh the evidence and second guess the Commission's factual findings.

9

Employer articulates the first issue on appeal as whether the Industrial Commission incorrectly applied the law pertaining to inferences when it found that Mr. Atkinson was compensated for his travel time to the office. *Appellants' Opening Brief*, p. 6. In discussing this issue Employer argues that Mr. Atkinson was not injured while travelling in response to a customer's emergency call, but simply commuting to work at Employer's office. *Appellants' Opening Brief*, pp. 11 – 12. In other words, Employer claims that whether Mr. Atkinson required access to the company truck to respond to any customer emergencies which might arise while he is at the office is not relevant because he was not responding to such an emergency call. This argument addresses a factual finding rather than a legal issue and misses the Commission's point.

Having the company truck available at the office is necessary to provide the Legendary Service which 2M Company requires of Mr. Atkinson, regardless of whether a customer may call or not. 2M Company also requires that he be prepared for a customer's emergency by having the company truck at his home. That is the essence of being on call 24/7. Thus, the responsibility to provide Legendary Service requires that Mr. Atkinson must travel between home and the office in the company truck. The Commission's Finding 25 is supported by the evidence and supports the reasonable inference that Employer paid him a salary intended to compensate Mr. Atkinson for driving the company truck to the office on March 11, 2017.

Also, on this issue, Employer argues that the Commission erroneously applied the legal principles of the "special errand" exception to the going and coming rule. *Appellants' Opening Brief*, pp. 12-13. This argument is difficult to understand because the Commission specifically declined to address the applicability of the special errand exception to the facts of this case. R.,

p. 26, para. 28. The attempt to argue that the Commission committed legal error in this respect is, therefore, unfounded.

Employer asserts the second issue on appeal to be whether the Industrial Commission applied an incorrect legal standard in determining that Employer substantially benefitted from providing Mr. Atkinson with a company truck. *Appellants' Opening Brief*, p. 6. The Commission clearly applied the legal standard articulated in *Barker I*. Employer, however, fails to explain why that standard is incorrect. Or why the benefit Employer received from providing Mr. Atkinson with the use of a truck does not properly constitute "other evidence" referenced in *Barker I*. Furthermore, Employer does not specify the correct legal standard the Commission failed to apply. Employer simply repeats the argument that Finding 26 "is disconnected from the fact that Claimant's accident did not occur while he was travelling" to or from an emergency call. *Appellants' Opening Brief*, p. 14. The argument is a slight variation on the previous argument, again asking this Court to reweigh the evidence, and fails for the same reasons.

As the third issue on appeal, Employer questions whether the Industrial Commission incorrectly applied the holding in the *Barker* cases in concluding that Mr. Atkinson was injured in the course of his employment. *Appellants' Opening Brief*, p. 6. Employer, however, fails to articulate how the Commission improperly applied the holding in *Barker I*. The only argument on this issue advanced by Employer is that no authority exists for the proposition that, "an exception to the going and coming rule can be predicated on the idea that an employer derives a benefit from an employee's on-time arrival at work, . . . ." *Appellants' Opening Brief*, p. 14. Once again, this argument misses the point and misconstrues the Commission's decision.

The Commission did not find that 2M Company received a benefit from Mr. Atkinson's on-time arrival at the office. There is not even a hint of such a finding. The Commission found

that 2M Company benefitted from providing Mr. Atkinson with a company truck, thereby "ensuring that Claimant will always have the means available to immediately respond to emergency calls." R., p. 26, para. 26. Driving the truck to the office ensures that it is available to respond to a customer's emergency needs if such should arise. Employer's argument is not responsive to any finding or conclusion of the Industrial Commission and is, therefore, not supportive of its appeal.

The cases cited by Employer in support of this argument are, accordingly, distinguishable. *Appellants' Opening Brief*, pp. 14-15. Particularly the Utah case. The interpretation of the Idaho Workers' Compensation Law, a unique statutory scheme, rests solely with the Idaho Industrial Commission and Idaho courts. To the extent that judicial decisions from any other states' courts conflict with Idaho law, such foreign decisions are meaningless in Idaho as they are based upon their own statutes. In this instance, the cited Utah case does not add anything which has not already been addressed by this Court in past decisions. At most, the case demonstrates that Utah law differs from Idaho law.

Employer states the fifth issue on appeal to be whether, as a matter of law, an automobile accident which occurs while an employee is commuting from his home to work at his employer's office "arises out of" employment when the employee is not performing any services for the employer at the time of the accident. *Appellants' Opening Brief*, p. 7. The issue, restated, would seem to ask whether the accident can be said to arise out of employment if it did not occur in the course of employment (*i.e.*, the employee was not performing a service for employer). This argument resembles the proverbial red herring and does not require an answer. Both the "arising out of" and the "in the course of" employment elements are required for an injury to be compensable. If one is missing the claim is not compensable. If Mr. Atkinson's job did not

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